
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Sharon Keenlyside 

 
8 October 2019 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ESTATE MANAGEMENT APPEALS PANEL to be held on Thursday 17 October 2019 at 
7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTION OF MEMBERS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To note any apologies. 
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 August 2019 
(previously circulated). 
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 10 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA  
 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 

Public Document Pack



Classification:  Unrestricted 

 
 

 

6.   8 PICKETTS, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1460/EM - FORMATION OF 
HARDSTANDING (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

 The report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for the 
formation of hardstanding.  
 

7.   12 THISTLE GROVE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1919/EM - ERECTION 
OF A FENCE FOLLOWING THE REMOVAL OF A HEDGE (Pages 21 - 36) 
 

 The report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for the 
erection of a fence following the removal of a hedge.  
 

8.   16 ROUNDWOOD DRIVE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2018/1230/EM - 
REPLACEMENT GARAGE DOOR (Pages 37 - 48) 
 

 The report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for 
replacement garage door. 
 

9.   87 UPLANDS, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1502/EM (Pages 49 - 60) 
 

 The report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for the 
erection of a front porch, internal alterations and expansion of hardstanding. 
 

10.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

11.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for items 12 and 13 (if any) on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
as defined in Section 100A(3) and Paragraphs 5 (privileged and legal advice) and 
6 (statutory notice or order) Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended). 
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.     
 

 
 
 
 
 



Classification:  Unrestricted 

 
 

PART II 
 

12.   UPDATE ON OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION UNDER THE TERMS OF 
THE MANAGEMENT SCHEME FOR WELWYN GARDEN CITY FOR BREACHES 
OF THAT SCHEME (Pages 61 - 74) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
updates Members with regard to outstanding arbitration cases that have been put 
before the Panel as well as additional cases for consideration. 
 

13.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors H.Bower (Chairman) 

A.Chesterman 
M.Cowan 
B.Fitzsimon 
 

F.Marsh 
L.Musk 
F.Thomson 
 

 Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Sharon 
Keenlyside, Governance Services on 01707 357467 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Part I 

Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 

 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  

ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PANEL – 17 OCTOBER 2019 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
6/2019/1460/EM  

8 PICKETTS WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 7HJ 

 

FORMATION OF HARDSTANDING 

 

APPLICANT: Mrs F Faulkner 

 

1. Background 

1.1 This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for 

the formation of hard standing. The application was refused on the 7 August 

2019 for the following reason: 

“The proposed development would result in the loss of soft landscaping and 
removal of hedgerow to the front of the dwelling, making the hard standing 
appear unduly prominent within the street scene, which would adversely affect 
the character and appearance of the property and street scene, detrimental to 
the amenities and values of this part of the Garden City, contrary to Policies 
EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.” 
 

2. Site Description 

2.1  The site contains a two storey, mid-terraced dwelling, located on the east side 

of Sherrards. The row of terraced properties, including the appeal property 

itself, feature soft landscaping to the front of the site, with hedgerows along the 

boundary treatment.  The front of these properties are visible within the street 

scene.     

3. The Proposal 

3.1 The appellant seeks to extend the existing hard standing within the front of the 

garden and remove 3.4m of the existing hedgerow along the front boundary.  

The proposed hard standing would measure approximately 3.4m in width and 

5.0m in depth.  The hedgerow would also be reduced from 4.4m in width to 1m.   

 

4. Relevant Estate Management History  

4.1. None relevant  

5. Policy 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

5.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008) 

  EM3 – Soft Landscaping  

EM4 – Hard Landscaping 

6. Representations Received  

 

6.1. A neighbour representation has been received from No.3 Picketts, which is in 

favour of the scheme.  The owner/occupier comments can be summarised as 

follows: 

 The scheme would alleviate a congested cul-de-sac; improve highway 

safety, particularly in winter; and would improve the turning facility in the 

road end; 

 Visually the effect of this hard standing would not be detrimental to the 

street scene; and 

 The visual impact comes from the green spaces at the north and south 

ends of the lower stretch of the road. 

7. Discussion 

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management consent. The 

appellant’s letter of appeal is attached at Appendix 1, and the original officer’s 

delegated report is attached at Appendix 2. 

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact of the proposed 

hard standing and loss of hedgerow upon the amenities and values of the 

surrounding area. The impact on the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers 

is considered acceptable. 

7.3. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 

in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 

Management Scheme (EMS) was set up. The purpose of the Management 

Scheme and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street 

scenes are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town.  

7.4. Policy EM3 of the EMS states that works to trees and hedgerows will only be 

allowed where the works would not result in the loss of landscaping which 

would harm the character and amenities of the area and where sufficient 

justification for the works has been given or there are other considerations that 

apply. 

7.5. Policy EM4 of the EMS states that proposals for hard surfacing, for the parking 

of private vehicles in front gardens will only be allowed where the works would 

retain an appropriate balance between hard and soft landscaping and do not 

result in the loss of any existing hedgerows or landscaping along the boundary, 

other than the minimum required to access the hard standing, that would be 

harmful to the amenities and values of the street scene in which it is located. 

Page 6



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

7.6. The appeal property is located within a row of terraced properties of similar 

design. The majority of these properties have hedgerows along the front 

boundary treatment, with soft landscaping behind and hard standing forming a 

footpath from the street to the front door.  This is a key characteristic of Picketts 

and the wider Garden City values and amenities.  

7.7. The loss of the hedgerow would be visible from the street scene, and is 

considered to be harmful to the amenities and values of the property itself and 

to the wider surrounding area.    

7.8. Furthermore, works to hedgerows will only be allowed where sufficient 

justification has been given.  In this instance, the appellant has provided 

justification, in that, there is a lack of on street car parking spaces.  

Nevertheless, this is not considered to justify the harm identified in the removal 

of the hedgerow upon the values and amenities of the immediate locality and 

the Garden City.  The loss of the hedgerow within the EMS would therefore 

conflict with Policy EM3 of the EMS.  

7.9. The loss of the hedgerow would also increase the visibility of the hard standing 

proposed.  Whilst over 50% of soft landscaping would remain, the removal of 

the majority of the front hedge and the siting of hard landscaping proposed 

within the front garden would result in the hard standing being significantly 

prominent within the street scene and would disrupt the uniformity shared 

amongst the terraced properties. For this reason, it is considered that the 

proposal would be detrimental to the amenities and values of the area.   

7.10. A case has been advanced by the appellant in support of their appeal. This 

includes photographs indicating numerous large commercial vehicles parked in 

the road.  In addition to this, the appellant expresses that their property is at the 

end of the cul-de-sac, and the hard standing would allow a safer turning area 

and that the design proposed would not eradicate soft landscaping detrimental 

to the guidelines. 

7.11. Whilst it is appreciated that the parking of cars on the highway can impact upon 

highway safety, this is not within the remit of the EMS. 

7.12. The appellant also proposes to reduce the amount of hedgerow lost to 3m as 

opposed to the 3.4m that was originally proposed, and also proposes to reduce 

the amount of hardstanding for parking provision to 4.8m rather than 5m.   

7.13. This would not however overcome the harm identified.  The majority of the 

terrace properties have soft landscaping to the front with hardstanding forming 

a path from the street to the front door.  The loss of the hedgerow and 

installation of hardstanding would therefore disrupt the uniformity shared 

amongst these properties.  The proposal would consequently appear out of 

keeping and prominent within the street scene.  As such, it would still be 

contrary to Policies EM3 and EM4 of the EMS.  

7.14. Despite the appellant’s submission and alterations proposed a compelling case 

has not been demonstrated why the circumstances advanced by the occupants 

Page 7



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

of this particular property, when considered in its context, should override the 

wider values and amenities of this part of Picketts and the surrounding 

streetscene.  

7.15. For this reason, the view remains that the proposal fails to reflect the character 

and appearance of the street scene.  The proposed development therefore fails 

to maintain the amenities and values of the EMS. 

 

8. Conclusion 

8.1. No substantial additional evidence or information has been put forward by the 

appellant which adds to or would alter the Officer’s recommendation. The 

proposed development would result in a loss of soft landscaping and removal 

of the hedgerow to the front of the dwelling, resulting in the hardstanding 

appearing unduly prominent within the street scene, which would adversely 

affect the character and appearance of the property and street scene, 

detrimental to the amenities and values of this part of the Garden City, contrary 

to Policies EM3 and EM4 of the EMS. 

 

9. Recommendation 

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal. 

 

Author  Clare Howe (Development Management Officer) 

Date:   3 October 2019  

 

Background papers: 

Appendix 1: Appellant’s grounds of appeal 

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report 

 

Page 8



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Re: Application No. 6/2019/1460/EM

Development: Formation of hardstanding
Location: 8 Picketts, Welwyn Garden City, Herts AL8 7HJ
Appplicant: Ms Kay Faulkner
Application date: 24 June 2019

I am writing to appeal the decision made by Welwyn Hat�eld Bourough Council Estate Management 
Scheme, regarding the development of hardstanding to the front of my property.

The need to accomodate the rise in car ownership and large trade vehicles has become paramount in 
Picketts. I agree it should retain the appearance and ethos but all these vehicles are detrimental to the 
street scence, obscuring the majority of hedgrows and soft landscaping which is part of the Garden City.

Vehicles are parking on green space around Picketts spoiling the appearance of the area, mounting 
pavements not reinforced and damaging the grass. I appreciate how the council views the situation with 
regards to prominence within the street adversely impacting the character and appearance of the street 
scene, but would this be towards the hardstanding or the amount of vehicles in the road and on green 
spaces.

My proposed addition of hardstanding would not  be detramental to the street scene as it would remove 
one car from the road and give prominance to the 55% of landscaping that would remain to the front of 
my property, which is within your speci�ed guidelines, and retain the ethos of the frontage and street.

Unlike other neighbouring properties my house is uniquely situated within the wider turning circle of the 
road, if my car were to be taken o� road this would provide greater room for other cars to turn safely in 
what has become a very congested area of road. This would also be bene�cial for emergency vehicles 
which would already struggle to get down Picketts due to the parking situation and thereby create a 
safer environment.

In addition, the design proposed does not eradicate soft landscaping detrimental to the guidelines, the 
design builds in soft features to my front garden to retain the inherent character of the property. Without 
cars and vans continually parked in front of my garden it would enhance the character of the surrounding 
neighbourhood. 

In my original proposal I would be removing 3.4m of hedgerow but, on agreement, I will reduce this to 
3m of hedgerow being removed as speci�ed in your Estate Management guidelines (EM4) plus the space 
could be reduced to 4.8m rather than 5m, again, according to your guidelines.

On a personal level, I have lived in Picketts for 23 years and have noticed the increased need for more 
vehicle spaces. I have approached the council on numerous occasions with suggestions of resolving this 
but to no avail. As a result I am frequently unabale to park outside or near my property and this would be 
a major advantage to my lifestyle and mental wellness, not being worried about walking back to my 
property in the dark late at night when the street lighting is remiss, for example.

With these points in mind I would be grateful if the council would reconsider my planning application as I 
do not believe it would be detrimental to the properties character or impact negatively on the street 
scene. Conversely, I believe it would be of great bene�t to the property, my mental wellbeing and the 
overall bene�cial balance and spatial impact it would have on the street scene. Notwithstanding, the 
emergency services would be provided better access and manoeuvrability at this end of the road.

I look forward to hearing the results of your review.

Regards

Ms Kay Faulkner

001

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Very narrow turning point at the end of the cul-du-sac, only point where cars can turn round.
With my hardstanding opening up this area this will allow a safer turning area and less cars will be damaged, as they are being.

002

P
age 13



This indicates the number of large commercial vehicles that park in the road, which obscures a very high percentage of the soft landscaping as you enter Picketts, 
which harms the appearance and ethos of the street scene.

003

P
age 14



This indicates the 3m of hedgrow being removed which will still retain an excessive amount of hedgrow and soft landscaping to the front of the property 
which will still contribute to the appearance and ethos of the road.
Plus enables all public and emergency vehicle to ensure a larger turning area.
My property is situated in the largest part of the cul-du-sac enabling a safer exit of vehicle from the hardstanding. 
Other properties would need to exit onto the narrow section of of the road as you can see to the left of the image.

004

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2019/1460/EM
Location: 8 Picketts Welwyn Garden City AL8 7HJ
Proposal: Formation of hardstanding
Officer:  Ms Clare Howe

Recommendation: Refused

6/2019/1460/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

7 Pickett is a two storey residential property situated within
Sherrards ward. The dwelling falls within the Welwyn Garden City Estate
Management Scheme.

The applicant seeks consent for the extension of hard standing within the front 
garden and removal of 3.4m of the hedgerow on the front boundary. 

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history None relevant
Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Summary of 
neighbour 
responses

None received

Relevant Policies
EM1  EM2  EM3 EM4

Others         

Considerations
Landscaping 
issues (incl. 
hardstandings)

Policy EM4 seeks to retain the appearance and ethos of the Garden City while 
accommodating the increased pressure for vehicle hard standings which has 
resulted from a rise in car ownership. In doing such, Policy EM4 suggests that 
proposals should retain as much soft “green” landscaping as possible, and not 
result in a detrimental loss of hedgerows which can be used to reduce the 
visual prominence of parked vehicles. This policy also applies to side gardens 
facing either open space, footpaths or roads.

Policy EM3 is also relevant and states that works to hedgerows will only be 
allowed where the works would not result in the loss of landscaping which 
would harm the character and amenities of the area. 

The council will aim to ensure that a significant proportion, around 50 per cent 
unless individual circumstances indicate that this would not be appropriate, of 
the frontage is retained as landscaped ‘greenery’ to retain the appearance and 
ethos of the Garden City.  

The use of generous landscaping and hedgerows within the Garden City is 

Page 17



2 of 3

what helps the town to retain a particular and unique character.  This is 
reflected within the Picketts, as the majority of the properties have hedgerows 
along the front boundary line with soft landscaping behind.  The linear 
appearance of the hedgerows are typically only broken for footpaths leading to 
the front door.   The houses surrounding the site, and the application site, 
therefore have established landscaping and vegetation which contributes to 
the character of the street scene.

Within the streetscene hedgerows and soft landscaping contribute to the 
values and amenities of Picketts significantly.  Hedgerows lining the front of 
residential streets are key elements of these green principles where individual 
homes help contribute to the area’s character.  The removal therefore of 3.4m 
of existing hedgerow and retention of only 1m of the hedgerow would be highly 
visible from the public vantage point of Picketts.  As such, the loss of the 
hedgerow would be detrimental upon the values and amenities of the street 
scene and Garden City.

The application also includes the removal of soft landscaping, however 55% of 
soft landscaping would be retained.  Whilst over 50% would remain, due to the 
amount of the hedgerow being lost, and that the majority of the soft 
landscaping is set away from the public footpath with the hardstanding to the 
front of the site, the soft landscaping would not be highly visible.  For this 
reason, it is considered that the proposal would be detrimental to the amenities 
and values of the area.  

Furthermore, the removal of 3.4m of the hedgerow along the front boundary 
line would be approximately 0.4m above that considered necessary to create 
vehicular access (3m).  Likewise, the hard standing would measure 3.4m x 
5m, which is above the standard car parking size of 2.4m x 4.8m.  The 
proposed removal of the existing hedge along the front boundary and the 
amount of hard landscaping proposed within the front garden would involve the 
loss of the existing vegetation to the front of the site, making the hardstanding 
more prominent within the street scene. 

As such, the removal of the hedgerow on the front boundary and amount of 
hard standing proposed would disrupt the uniformity of landscaping within the 
streetscene, thus harming the character and amenities of the area, contrary to 
Policies EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Conclusion 
The proposed development would result in a loss of soft landscaping and removal of 3.4m of the 
hedgerow to the front of the dwelling, making the hardstanding appear unduly prominent within the 
street scene, which would adversely affect the character and appearance of the property and street 
scene, detrimental to the amenities and values of this part of the Garden City, contrary to Policy EM3 
and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Reason for Refusal: 

1. The proposed development would result in the loss of soft landscaping and 
removal of hedgerow to the front of the dwelling, making the hardstanding appear 
unduly prominent within the street scene, which would adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the property and street scene, detrimental to the 
amenities and values of this part of the Garden City, contrary to Policies EM3 and 
EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Page 18



3 of 3

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

003 Proposed Floor Plan 24 June 2019

001 Location plan 24 June 2019

002 Existing Floor Plan 24 June 2019

Determined By:

Mrs Sarah Smith
7 August 2019

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Part I 

Executive Member: Stephen Boulton 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  

ESTATE MANAGEMENT APPEALS PANEL – 17 OCTOBER 2019 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
6/2019/1919/EM  

12 THISTLE GROVE WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4AN 

ERECTION OF A FENCE FOLLOWING THE REMOVAL OF A HEDGE 

 

APPLICANT: Mrs J Keighley 

 

1. Background 

1.1. The appeal is against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for the 

erection of a fence following the removal of an existing boundary hedge. The 

application (reference: 6/2019/1919/EM) was refused on the 10th  September 

2019 for the following reason: 

 

“The loss of the hedge to the front of the dwelling would result in an unbalanced 
frontage with excessive hard landscaping which would erode the immediate 
character of Thistle Grove and the surrounding Garden City. Accordingly, the 
proposal would be detrimental to the values and amenities of this part of the 
Garden City contrary to Policies EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management 
Scheme.” 
 

1.2.  Whilst the reason for refusal refers to Policy EM3 (Soft Landscaping) and EM4 
(Hard Landscaping), the application should have also taken into consideration 
Policy EM2 (Erection of New Buildings). Taking into account the wording within 
the report, it is not considered that the appellant is prejudiced in any way to 
understand the concerns of the development. Accordingly this appeal is 
additionally assessed against Policy EM2. 
 

2. Site Description 

 

2.1. The appeal site is a two storey end terrace dwelling house, located on the 

western side of Thistle Grove. The property is located in a row containing four 

properties. The front of this terrace, and the appeal property itself, is open to 

views from the public highway.   

2.2. Estate Management consent has previously been granted to relocate the front 

door of the dwelling to the front of the canopy, forming a porch.  

3. The Proposal 

3.1. The applicant’s proposal is for the erection of a boundary fence at the front of 

the property, to replace the existing hedgerow. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

3.2. The proposed fence would measure approximately 4ft in height and extend 

across the full length of the northern side of the frontage, as well as a small 

section across the front.   

4. Policies 

4.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008) 

EM2 – Erection of New Buildings  

EM3 – Soft Landscaping 

EM4 – Hard Landscaping  

5. Relevant Estate Management History 

5.1. None 

6. Representations Received 

6.1. No neighbour representations have been received.  

6.2. Cadent Gas Limited have identified operational gas apparatus within the 
application site boundary. On this occasion, Cadent Gas have commented 
stating that if the application is refused for any other reason than the presence 
of apparatus, they will not take any further action. Should it be approved, the 
applicant should read the guidance contained with the written response from 
Cadent Gas.  

7. Discussion 

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent. The 

appellant’s grounds of appeal are attached at Appendix 1. The officer’s report 

for application reference 6/2019/1919/EM is attached at Appendix 2. A 

photograph submitted by the appellant is attached at Appendix 3.  

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact of the proposed 

fence and the removal of the hedge on the values and amenities of the 

surrounding area. The impact on the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers 

is considered to be acceptable. 

7.3. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 

in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 

Management Scheme was set up. The purpose of the Management Scheme 

and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street scenes 

are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town.  

7.4. Policy EM2 refers to the formal planned nature of the town and its layout. It 

states that the erection of new buildings including dwellings, garages, 

greenhouses, sheds, other outbuildings and structures can have a significant 

impact on the quality and appearance of a street scene or view. 

7.5. Policy EM3 states that works to trees and hedgerows will only be allowed 

where the works would not result in a loss of landscaping which would harm the 

Page 22



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

character and amenities of the area and where sufficient justification for the 

works has been given or there are other considerations that apply.  

7.6. Policy EM4 requires that proposals for hard surfacing will only be allowed 

where the works would retain an appropriate balance between hard and soft 

landscaping and would not not result in the loss of any existing hedgerows or 

landscaping along the boundary, that would be harmful to the amenities and 

values of the street scene in which it is located. The Council will aim to ensure 

that a significant proportion, around 50% of the frontage is retained as 

landscaped ‘greenery’ to retain the appearance and ethos of the garden city 

unless individual circumstances indicate that this would not be appropriate. 

7.7. Thistle Grove has a verdant character with front and side boundary hedges 

which reflect the ethos of the garden city. The appeal property is a two storey, 

end terrace dwelling located within a terrace of 4 similarly designed properties. 

The property, along with the three other terrace dwellings it adjoins, were 

designed with the use of generous landscaping and hedgerows to preserve this 

ethos. This design is replicated within other areas of the streetscene. On this 

basis, it is acknowledged that it is likely at some point the majority of the 

boundary of the application property would have been hedgerow in keeping 

with the character and appearance of the Garden City. 

7.8. Some of the original landscape features within the terrace have slowly been 

eroded as areas of hardstanding have been introduced to the frontage and 

hedgerows removed. This has resulted in the introduction of some harm to the 

terrace and immediate area.  Historic records indicate that these works do not 

have consent under the Estate Management Scheme.  

7.9. The Council acknowledges that there is a need to prevent the erosion of 
landscape within the town and believes the retention of frontages, hedgerows 
and trees are critical to preserve this character.  
 

7.10. Policy EM2 states that because of the formal planned nature of the town and its 
layout, the erection of structures can have a significant impact on the quality 
and appearance of a street scene or view. Proposals should respect the visual 
appearance of the area in terms of siting, scale and design and should not 
result in a visually over prominent or discordant element. The fencing is, by 
reason of its overall height, position and design, unduly prominent from public 
vantage points and out of keeping with the Garden City principles. Accordingly, 
it would be contrary to Policy EM2. 

 
7.11. Policy EM3 aims for the retention of soft landscaping unless works proposed to 

trees or hedgerows will not result in harm to the values and amenities of the 

area. This part of Thistle Grove contains a number of open, soft landscaped 

frontages with front and side boundary hedges which contribute positively to the 

streetscene and enhance the character and appearance of the surrounding 

area and Welwyn Garden City in general. 

7.12. The existing appeal property features a front and side boundary hedge. This 
design is replicated at Numbers 6, 8 and 10 Thistle Grove, which form the other 
properties within the terrace. The property also features a hardstanding which 

Page 23



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

can accommodate 2 cars. Based on the neighbouring properties, it would 
appear that in the past a boundary hedgerow and lawn would have been in situ 
instead of hard surfacing. There is no planning history to date the removal of 
the hedge or the formation of the hardstanding. 

    
7.13. Front boundary hedges are a common feature within Thistle Grove and the 

Estate Management Scheme area. As the proposal would involve the loss of 
the only remaining section of hedgerow to the front garden, it would conflict with 
the stated objectives of Policy EM3. 

 

7.14. It is noted that the host dwelling already benefits from a hardstanding which 
appears to exceed the standards within Policy EM4. The excessive hard 
surfacing to the front, which does not benefit from Estate Management consent, 
already results in an incongruous feature which currently is softened by the 
existing hedgerow. Hedges to front boundaries are a key feature seen within 
the Garden City. The removal of the hedgerow to be replaced with a solid, 
wooden feature would have a detrimental impact on the character of the 
immediate area and cause further harm to the amenities and values of the 
street scene, contrary to Policy EM4.  

 

7.15. Additionally, as scaled drawings have not been provided, in terms of a visual 
assessment, the existing site appears in excess of the 50/50 guidance outlined 
under Policy EM4. The removal of the hedge (which currently acts as a buffer 
to the driveway) would further reduce the amount of frontage which would be 
retained as landscaped ‘greenery’. This exacerbates the existing amount of 
hard surfacing, which already appears in excess of the standards under Policy 
EM4.  

 

7.16. A case has been advanced by the appellant in support of their appeal. This 

includes; 

1. A number of other houses in the street have a wooden fence on the 

border between the two properties.  

 

2. 16 Thistle Grove features a boundary fence which was erected by the 

council. 

 

3. The boundary fence would be aesthetically pleasing and it would not be 

adjacent to the public footpath as the example at No.16 is. 

 

4. The existing hedge is dead and therefore needs replacing. This would be 

time consuming and both the applicant and the neighbour would benefit 

from a lower maintenance border.  

 

5. The small piece of hedge next to the path could be replaced with a 

suggested species from the council. 

  

7.17. With regard to point 1, the applicant has outlined that there are properties on 

Thistle Grove with fences situated along the side boundaries between two 

properties. As no photographs or details indicating house numbers of these 

Page 24



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

properties have been provided, the location of such addresses is therefore 

unknown. Limited weight can therefore be given when drawing a comparison 

between the schemes. 

7.18. With regard to point 2, a photograph has been provided by the appellant to 

demonstrate an example of a fence along the front boundary of 16 Thistle 

Grove. This is attached at Appendix 3. It is acknowledged that while this fence 

has already been erected, the addition has removed an original hedgerow and 

introduced a fence which contrasts with the soft landscaped nature of the road. 

It is worth noting that the fence at No.16 does not benefit from Estate 

Management Consent and therefore may be subject to Enforcement action. 

The presence of this fence is not considered to be a reason to justify an 

additional fence at the application site, which would further dilute the original 

Welwyn Garden City design and character.  

7.19. Point 3 refers to the aesthetics of the proposed fence and its siting in relation to 

the site boundaries. The appellant maintains that the fence would not be 

adjacent to the public footpath. Whilst this is the case with the side boundary 

fence, the plans suggest that the front section of hedge facing the footpath 

would also be removed and replaced with a section of fence. This point 

therefore provides limited weight in favour of the proposal.  

7.20. In regards to the hedge under point 4, the appellant has stated that the existing 

hedge is dead and a replacement would take time to grow. The guidance for 

Policy EM3 states that consent is rarely given for the complete removal of 

hedgerows or trees without sound justification and a replacement element of 

landscaping will nearly always be required. It is not considered that a robust 

justification has been submitted by the applicant to overcome the concerns 

raised above. In any event, a replacement hedge could be acceptable if it was 

to replace a dead or dying hedge. 

7.21. Under point 5, the appellant has referred to an alternative proposal, which 

would involve the replacement of the front section of hedge with a suitable 

replacement. This aspect was not included under the original application and 

consequently cannot be assessed within this report.  

7.22. Overall, it is considered that a compelling case has not been made by the 

appellant to demonstrate why the circumstances advanced by the occupants of 

this particular property, when considered in its context, should override the 

wider values and amenities of Thistle Grove and the surrounding streetscene. 

8. Conclusion 

8.1. The proposal, by virtue of the fence’s siting, scale and design would form a 

prominent addition that would fail to maintain or enhance the balance between 

soft and hard landscaping within 12 Thistle Grove to the detriment of the visual 

interest of this site and the surrounding area. Accordingly, the proposal would 

be detrimental to the values and amenities of this part of the Garden City 

contrary to Policies EM2, EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.  

 

9. Recommendation 

Page 25



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal. 

 

 

Author  Emily Stainer (Development Management) 

Date  25 September 2019 

 

Background papers: 

Appendix 1: Appellant’s grounds of appeal 

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report 

Appendix 3: Appellant’s photograph 

 

Page 26



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2019/1919/EM
Location: 12 Thistle Grove Welwyn Garden City AL7 4AN
Proposal: Installation of fence following removal of hedge
Officer:  Ms Emily Stainer

Recommendation: Refused

6/2019/1919/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

The site is located on the west side of Thistle Grove and consists of a two 
storey, semi-detached property. The area is residential in character, featuring 
properties of similar style and design.

Estate Management Consent is sought for the erection of a front/side boundary 
fence following the removal of the existing hedge. 

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history Application Number: W6/2001/0484/EM
Decision: Granted
Decision Date: 08 May 2001
Proposal: Relocate front door to front of canopy to form porch

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Summary of 
neighbour 
responses

None

Consultee 
responses

None

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3  EM4
Others         

Considerations
Design (form, 
size, scale, siting) 
and Character 
(impact upon 
amenities and 
values of Garden 
City)

Policy EM4 seeks to retain the appearance and ethos of the Garden City while 
accommodating the increased pressure for vehicle hard standings which has 
resulted from a rise in car ownership. Policy EM4 also suggests that proposals 
should retain as much soft “green” landscaping as possible, and not result in a 
detrimental loss of hedgerows which can be used to reduce the visual 
prominence of parked vehicles. 

Additionally, Policy EM3 states that works to hedgerows will only be allowed 
where the works would not result in a loss of landscaping which would harm 

Page 31



2 of 3

the character and amenities of the area. Guidance says that the council will 
aim to ensure that a significant proportion  of around 50 per cent of the 
frontage is retained as landscaped ‘greenery’ to retain the appearance and 
ethos of the Garden City, unless individual circumstances indicate that this 
would not be appropriate.

The site frontage currently consists of an area of hardstanding with sections of 
lawn around the edge and a boundary hedge. Scaled plans have not been 
submitted to allow the case officer to draw a quantitative comparison between 
soft and hard landscaping on the frontage, however a qualitative assessment 
has been undertaken following a site visit. On site, it was noted that the area of 
hardstanding appeared already to be in excess of the 50% guidance outlined 
above. The existing situation therefore results in an unbalanced proportion of 
soft and hard landscaping. 

The proposal would involve removing the existing boundary hedge (measuring 
1200mm in height) and replacing it with a wooden boundary fence of a similar 
scale. As such, the proposed development would have considerably less soft 
landscaping and would cause detrimental harm to the appearance of the 
house frontage, the wider street and ethos of the garden city contrary to policy 
EM4 of the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme (EMS). 

Impact on 
neighbours

None

Other considerations:

Cadent Gas Limited have identified operational gas apparatus within the application site boundary. 
On this occasion, Cadent Gas have commented stating that if the application is refused for any other 
reason than the presence of apparatus, they will not take any further action. 

Conclusion
It is considered that the development would result in an unacceptable amount of hard landscaping, 
contrary to policy EM4 which in turn would have an unacceptable impact on the appearance and 
ethos of the Garden City. The application is therefore recommended for refusal.

Reasons for Refusal: 

1. The loss of the hedge to the front of the dwelling would result in an unbalanced 
frontage with excessive hard landscaping which would erode the immediate 
character of Thistle Grove and the surrounding Garden City. Accordingly, the 
proposal would be detrimental to the values and amenities of this part of the 
Garden City contrary to Policies EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

Plan 1 Site Location Plan 7 August 2019

Plan 2 Existing and Proposed Plans 29 July 2019

Page 32



3 of 3

Plan 4 Proposed Fence plans 7 August 2019

Plan 3 Existing and Proposed 
Layout

7 August 2019

Determined By:

Mr Michael Robinson
10 September 2019

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Part I 

Executive Member: Councillor S Boulton   
  

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  

ESTATE MANAGEMENT APPEAL PANEL – 17 OCTOBER 2019  

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING  

AND GOVERNANCE)  
  

6/2018/1230/EM  

16 ROUNDWOOD DRIVE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL8 7JZ REPLACEMENT GARAGE 

DOOR 

APPLICANT: MR N SOUTHEY  

(Sherrards)  

1  Background  

1.1  This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 

replacement of the garage door at the property. The application (6/2018/1230/EM) 

was refused for the following reason:   

           ‘The design and colour of the garage door is out of keeping with the character and 

appearance of Roundwood Drive and it fails to maintain the values and amenities 

of the Garden City. Accordingly, the garage door is not in accordance with Policy 

EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme’. 
 

2  Site Description  

2.1  The subject property is a two storey detached dwelling house located on the 

southern side of Roundwood Drive, opposite its junction with Reddings. The 

property is a double fronted dwelling with an integral gable and is sited towards 

the eastern flank boundary of the plot. As well as the garage, the property has 

parking for two cars on its driveway.   
 

2.2  The street scene comprises detached dwellings with a variety of architectural features 

of varying sizes in large plots.  

3  The Proposal  

3.1   The application sought retrospective Estate Management consent for the 

replacement of the garage door at the property. The garage doors as installed 

are centrally opening and are grey stained timber with black vertical handles. 

They match the front door at the property. 
  

4  Relevant Estate Management History  

4.1   Application Number: 6/2016/0473/EM  Decision: Granted    Decision Date: 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

19 July 2016  

 Proposal: Erection of a rear extension with internal and external alterations. 

4.2  Application Number: 6/2017/1700/COND  Decision: Granted    Decision 

Date: 29 September 2017 

Proposal: Submission of detail pursuant to condition 5 (front door details) on 

planning permission 6/2016/0473/EM. These approved the front door as it has been 

installed.  
 

5  Policy  

5.1  Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008):  

5.2  EM1 – Extensions and Alterations  

6  Discussion  

  

6.1  This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent. The 

appellant’s letter of appeal is attached at Appendix 1 and the delegated officer’s 

report attached at Appendix 2.   
  

6.2      The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact the development 

has had on the character and appearance of Roundwood Drive and it failing to 

maintain the values and amenities of the Garden City. 
  

6.3     The proposal is for the retrospective replacement of the garage door at the 

property. Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme outlines that extensions 

and alterations to existing properties will only be allowed if they are in keeping 

with the design, appearance, materials and architectural detailing used in the 

existing building and do not have a detrimental impact on the amenities and 

values of the surrounding area or the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers. 

Therefore, as with all applications, an assessment is made with regard to the 

impact of the proposal upon the street scene and the values and amenities of the 

surrounding area.  
  

6.4  In this instance, the garage doors are a visually striking element of the building. 

While it is noted that the grey front door to the dwelling was approved under 

condition 5 of the application 6/2016/0473/EM and that the garage doors match 

the front door in terms of colour and design, they are not of a traditional design 

or appearance for the Garden City. Roundwood Drive is a fairly typical street 

within the Estate Management area in Welwyn Garden City with a pleasant mix 

of dwellings in a well- landscaped setting. The dwellings are reflective of the 

Garden City ethos with traditional design, materials and fenestration. The garage 

doors at the properties and in particular, those at the dwellings in the vicinity of 

the appeal site, are of a traditional appearance and are almost all white. While 

the garage doors at nos. 17 and 18 Roundwood Drive are of a pale green colour, 

the garage doors at nos. 6 – 16 and 20 – 22 (evens) and nos. 9 – 15 and nos. 19 

– 25 are all white. They assist in providing a pleasant uniformity to the street 

scene, in keeping with the values and amenities of the Garden City. 

Page 38



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

6.5 However, in contrast to this, the grey garage doors at 16 Roundwood Drive are 

somewhat incongruous. While they do match the authorised front door at the 

dwelling, they are not in keeping with the overall character and feel of the street 

scene or this part of the Garden City. They are industrial in appearance and 

unbalance the property in terms of the colour and detract from the street scene. 

Whereas the window frames of the dwelling are white, the grey of the garage 

doors is somewhat drab and harms the appearance of the dwelling and the 

street scene. The window frames and garage doors of the surrounding 

properties are almost all white and are therefore of a traditional colour for the 

Garden City. The garage doors at 16 are not, and detract from the character of 

the area. While it is noted that garage doors match the authorised front door of 

the property, in terms of the overall impact upon the street scene, they are 

harmful and have had a detrimental impact. They are harmful to the values and 

amenities of the Garden City. The garage doors are therefore contrary to Policy 

EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.                  
 

6.6  The appellant considers that the colour and design of the garage doors at some 

of the other properties in the area, and the approved colour of the front door at 

the appeal site, render the proposed garage doors acceptable. However, many 

of the doors that are referred to in the appellant’s statement serve properties not 

in the immediate vicinity of the appeal site, but along other roads. The dwellings 

in the vicinity of 16 Roundwood Drive however all have white garage doors (with 

the exception of nos. 17 and 18 Roundwood Drive) and though they exhibit a 

small variation in design, their overall visual impact is largely uniform, especially 

when driving or walking past them without paying particular attention to them. 

They would appear to be of a uniform white appearance. In contrast, the fact that 

the garage doors at the appeal property are so contrasting to the established 

garage doors in the area, is such that they significantly detract from the street 

scene and the values and amenities of the area and the Garden City. The 

appellant’s comments concerning the authorised colour of the front door and the 

garage doors being acceptable as a consequence are noted. However, the front 

door stands out in stark contrast to the front doors of the surrounding properties, 

both in terms of colour and design. The garage doors at the appeal property 

have exacerbated the uncharacteristic features of this dwelling which are not in 

keeping with the Garden City.        

 

6.7 The photographs of the properties along Reddings, Sherrardspark Road and 

Roundwood Drive submitted by the appellant as part of their statement serve to 

emphasise their inappropriateness and the harm caused to the street scene by 

the doors of different colours. It does not appear from a search of the Council’s 

records that the colours of these doors are authorised. They have harmed the 

uniformity of those roads and the values and amenities of the Garden City as a 

result.  

 

6.8 The appellant refers to the need for planning permission for the garage doors in 

the appeal statement. However, the application and this appeal are concerned 

with the need for Estate Management consent. Estate Management consent was 

Page 39



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

refused for the reasons provided and discussed in the decision notice and this 

appeal statement, for the harmful impacts that they have.        

 

6.9 The comments regarding the appearance of the property at the time of the 

application are noted. However, this did not have a bearing on the Council’s 

consideration of the application. The comments about modernisation and 

progress are also noted. However, and notwithstanding the amended design of 

the lampposts along Roundwood Drive, the purpose of the Estate Management 

scheme is to protect the values and amenities of the Garden City. While there 

may have been small, perhaps unauthorised, alterations to a number or 

properties in the vicinity of the appeal site, the garage doors at 16 Roundwood 

Drive are rather more noticeable and visually impacting than some lesser 

alterations. They have had and would continue to have a significant impact upon 

the character and appearance of the property and the street scene and the 

values and amenities of the Garden City. 

 

6.10 The appellant’s comments that having the doors and gates in the same mid- grey 

colour would make the front of the house blend in with the leafy feel of 

Roundwood Drive, whereas brighter colours such as green or white would create 

a contrast and would stand out, are considered to be inaccurate. The white 

colour of the window frames and the garage doors of the surrounding properties 

is the standard colouring of those features of the properties. The grey of the 

garage doors does not blend in however: it is somewhat stark in contrast and 

significantly detracts from the area.              

  

7  Conclusion   

  

7.1  The grey garage doors at the property are out of keeping with the character and 

appearance of Roundwood Drive and they fail to maintain the values and 

amenities of the Garden City. Accordingly, the garage doors are not in 

accordance with Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme. 
  

8  Recommendation  

  

8.1  That Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal.  
 

Author  Tom Gabriel (Development Management)  

Date:    3 September 2019  

  

Background Information  

Appendix 1: Appellant’s Statement (and attachments)  

Appendix 2: Officer Report   

 

Page 40



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

  

Page 43



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Page 44



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2018/1230/EM
Location: 16 Roundwood Drive Welwyn Garden City AL8 7JZ
Proposal: Replacement garage door
Officer: Mr Tom Gabriel

Recommendation: Refused

6/2018/1230/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

The application site comprises a detached dwelling in a plot that tapers towards 
the rear. 
The application is for the retention of the replacement garage doors. They have 
been painted grey and each has a vertical metal bar as a handle. They match 
the front door to the dwelling granted under reference 6/2016/0473/EM (details 
approved under reference 6/2017/1700/COND).

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history Enforcement

Application Number: ENF/2018/0075Decision: Decision Date: 
Proposal: Garage door replaced without permission

Application Number: W6/2008/0561/EM Decision: Refused Decision 
Date: 07 May 2008
Proposal: ERECTION OF FIRST FLOOR REAR AND SINGLE STOREY SIDE 
EXTENSION

Application Number: W6/2008/1774/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 11 November 2008
Proposal: ERECTION OF FIRST FLOOR REAR AND SINGLE STOREY SIDE 
EXTENSIONS

Application Number: 6/2016/0473/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 19 July 2016
Proposal: Erection of rear extension with internal and external alterations

Application Number: 6/2017/1700/COND Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 29 September 2017
Proposal: Submission of details pursuant to condition 5 (front door details) on 
planning permission 6/2016/0473/EM

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Summary of 
neighbour 

None received.

Page 45



2 of 3

responses
Consultee 
responses

None received.

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3
Others         

Considerations
Design (form, 
size, scale, siting) 
and Character 
(impact upon 
amenities and 
values of Garden 
City)

Policy EM1 of the Estates Management Scheme states extensions and 
alterations will only be allowed if they are in keeping with the design, 
appearance, materials and architectural detailing used in the existing building 
and do not have a detrimental impact on the amenities and values of the 
surrounding area or the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers.

The grey front door to the dwelling was approved under condition 5 of 6/2016/ 
0473/EM. The proposed garage doors match the front door in terms of colour 
and design. However, they are not of a traditional design and appearance for 
the Garden City. The neighbouring and surrounding properties in this part of 
Roundwood Drive are of a number of designs but are almost all of a traditional 
white or cream colour and provide a pleasant uniformity to the street scene 
and this part of the Garden City.

However, the garage door at 16 Roundwood Drive is in stark contrast to this 
uniformity and is an incongruous element of the wider street scene. It 
represents a harmful addition to the property and the area and does not 
respect the original character of the dwelling or the street scene. It instead 
detracts from the character and appearance of the property, the street scene 
and this part of the Garden City. It is therefore not considered acceptable and 
is contrary to the values and amenities of the Garden City. 

Whilst appreciated that the front door is a colour and design that reflects the 
proposed garage doors.  However that front door stands out as a stark 
contrast to other front doors within the area.  The proposed garage door, would 
exacerbate the uncharacteristic features to this dwelling which are not in 
keeping with the Garden City, especially given its prominent position within the 
street.

The replacement garage door at the dwelling is therefore not in accordance 
with Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Impact on 
neighbours

None.

Landscaping 
issues (incl. 
hardstandings)

None.

Any other 
considerations 

None.

Conclusion
The proposal is not considered acceptable and is contrary to the values and amenities of the Garden 
City. The garage door is therefore not in accordance with Policy EM1 of the Estate Management 
Scheme.

The application is therefore recommended for refusal.

Page 46



3 of 3

Reason for Refusal: 

1. The design and colour of the garage door is out of keeping with the character and 
appearance of Roundwood Drive and fails to maintain the values and amenities of 
the Garden City.   Accordingly, the garage door is not in accordance with Policy 
EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

NWA-17-
028-21

Existing Elevations 9 May 2018

NWA-17-
028-LOC_E

Existing Block and Location 
Plans

9 May 2018

NWA-17-
028-20

Pre-Existing Elevations 9 May 2018

Determined By:

Mrs Sarah Smith
5 July 2018

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Part I 

Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 

 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PANEL -17 OCTOBER 2019 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
6/2019/1502/EM 

87 UPLANDS, WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 7EH 

ERECTION OF A FRONT PORCH, INTERNAL ALTERATIONS AND EXPANSION 

OF HARDSTANDING 

 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Baker 

 

1. Background 

1.1. The appeal is against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 

“Erection of a front porch, internal alterations and expansion of hardstanding”. 

The application (reference: 6/2019/1502/EM) was refused on the 1 August 

2019 for the following reasons: 

1.  The proposed front porch would appear as an incongruous addition to the 

front of the property that would fail to respect the character and 

appearance of the existing property, row of terraces and street scene.  

Accordingly, the proposal would harm the values and amenities of this 

part of the Garden City, contrary to Policy EM1 of the Welwyn Garden City 

Estate Management Scheme. 

2.  As a result of the amount of hardstanding proposed together with the loss 

of the hedgerows at the site, would result in an inappropriate amount of 

soft landscaping being retained at the site which would erode the 

character of the street scene and have an adverse impact on the visual 

amenities of this part of Uplands. Accordingly the proposal fails to 

maintain the values and amenities of the Garden City, contrary to Policies 

EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme. 

 

2. Site Description 

2.1 The appeal site, No.87 Uplands is a terraced dwelling on the south side of 
Uplands.  The site frontage is presently part soft and part hard landscaped 
with a hedgerow on part of the front boundary and a hardstanding across the 
remainder of the garden boundary leading up to the front of the house. 

  

3. The Proposal 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

3.1. The proposal seeks Estate Management Consent for the erection of a front 

porch, internal alterations and expansion of hardstanding to cover the 

frontage. 

3.2. The proposed porch would measure 1.2m in depth, 2.3m wide and 3m in 

height with a pitched tiled roof.  Materials to be used would match the existing 

dwelling. 

3.3. The proposed hardstanding would replace the existing soft landscaped area 

and extend the existing hardstanding across the frontage. 

4. Relevant Estate Management History 

4.1. Application Number: W6/1996/5062/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 30 April 1996 
Proposal: Erection of rear conservatory and garden shed 
 

4.2. Application Number: W6/2006/1157/EM Decision: Refused Decision 
Date: 27 October 2006 
Proposal: Formation of vehicle hardstanding 
 

4.3. Application Number: W6/2006/1508/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 10 January 2007 
Proposal: Formation of hardstanding 

 

5. Policy 

5.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008) 

EM1 – Extensions and Alterations 

EM3 – Landscaping  

EM4 – Hardstanding  

6. Representations Received 

6.1. No representations have been received. 

7. Discussion 

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent.  The 

appellant’s letter of appeal is attached at Appendix 1 and the original officer’s 

report is attached at Appendix 2. 

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact of the proposed 

development upon the amenities and values of the Garden City.  

7.3. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 

in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 

Management Scheme was set up. The purpose of the Management Scheme 

and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street scenes 

are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town. 

Page 50



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

7.4. Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme (EMS) refers to extensions 

and alterations, and states that extensions and alterations will only be allowed 

where the works are in keeping with the design, appearance, materials and 

architectural detail used in the existing building, and would not harm the 

amenities and values of the area.  

7.5. The proposal is to form an enclosed porch to be erected on the front elevation 

and is considered to be prominent within the streetscene.  It is considered that 

the proposed porch would detract from the property and would not be in 

keeping within the set of terrace properties which are characterised by open 

porches of relatively consistent design and would therefore be detrimental to 

the character of the streetscene.  It would fail to maintain the values and 

amenities of this part of the street scene and would be contrary to Policy EM1. 

7.6. With regard to the proposed hardstanding, the challenge with Garden City 

settlements is how to manage change whilst at the same time ensuring that 

the fundamental aesthetics, amenities and values of the Garden City remain 

intact. The need to accommodate the rise in car ownership has resulted in 

pressure for vehicular hard standings on the frontages of homes and this has 

over time resulted in a change to the appearance of streets. The removal of 

excessive areas or prominent landscaping such as trees and hedges rather 

than the hard standing itself can, over time, erode character. 

7.7. Accordingly, the council will only allow hard surfacing (paths, paving, 

concrete, gravelled areas, drives and hard standings) in front gardens for the 

parking of private motor vehicles which retain or create sufficient soft ‘green’ 

landscaping (grass, flower beds, shrubs, trees and hedges) and a sufficient 

length of hedgerow (if applicable) along the frontage of the property to reduce 

the visual prominence of parked vehicles. 

7.8. The council will aim to ensure that a significant proportion, around 50 per cent 

of the frontage is retained as landscaped ‘greenery’ unless individual 

circumstances indicate that this would not be appropriate, to retain the 

appearance and ethos of the Garden City.  

7.9. Policy EM3 of the Estate Management Scheme states that works to trees and 

hedgerows will only be allowed where the works would not result in the loss of 

landscaping which would harm the character and amenities of the area and 

where sufficient justification for the works has been given or there are other 

considerations that apply. 

7.10. Policy EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme seeks to preserve the unique 

architectural heritage of the town and its buildings and only proposals for hard 

surfacing, for the parking of private vehicles in front gardens will only be 

allowed where the works would retain an appropriate balance between hard 

and soft landscaping and do not result in the loss of any existing hedgerows 

or landscaping along the boundary, other than the minimum required to 

access the hard standing, that would be harmful to the amenities and values 

of the street scene in which it is located. 

Page 51



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

7.11. The appeal proposal would result in the frontage of the site being 

hardstanding together with the loss of an existing length of hedge.  This 

results in an unbalanced proportion of soft and hard landscaping detracting 

from the overall character of the area. 

7.12. The loss of the hedgerow is not justified in this instance. Furthermore, the loss 

of the hedgerow would result in the amount of hardstanding appearing more 

prominent within the street scene. As a result the proposal would have a 

detrimental impact upon the uniform character and appearance of the 

streetscene and wider amenities and values of the area. As such, the 

development is contrary to Policy EM3 of the Estate Management Scheme.   

 

7.13. A case has been advanced by the appellant in support of the appeal. The 

appellant outlines that high levels of on-street parking exists along Uplands 

and that other residential properties have significant amounts of hard standing 

and erected front porches. 

 

7.14. The appellant attaches several photographs to demonstrate this, however 

they do not clearly identify the addresses of the homes or whether they are 

within the Estate Management Scheme Area.  Two of the images actually 

show homes with hedgerows still present on the front boundary. It is 

acknowledged that there are areas of hardstanding at properties in the area, 

however, every application must be considered on its own merits and the 

appeal proposal would result in 100% coverage by hardstanding and the loss 

of hedgerow and soft landscaping.  

 

7.15. A compelling case has therefore not been made by the appellant to 

demonstrate why the circumstances advanced by the appellants of this 

particular property, when considered in its context, should override the wider 

values and amenities of Uplands and the Garden City. Accordingly, the 

proposal fails to reflect the character and appearance of the other properties 

to which it is located and the streetscene of Uplands. The proposed 

development therefore fails to maintain the amenities and values of the Estate 

Management Area. 

 

8. Conclusion 

8.1. No significant new evidence or information has been put forward by the 

appellant which adds to or would alter officer’s recommendation.  

8.2 It is considered that the proposed porch would detract from the property and 

would not be in keeping within the set of terrace properties and would be 

detrimental to the character of the streetscene.  It would fail to maintain the 

values and amenities of this part of the street scene and would be contrary to 

Policy EM1 of the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme.  

8.3 When assessing whether any harm would result from the balance of hard and 

soft landscaping retained, as well as the removal of any hedgerow screening, 

Page 52



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

full consideration is given to the existing condition of the street scene. In this 

case, the loss of a front hedgerow and the amount of hard surfacing proposed 

would cause harm to the values and amenities of the street scene. 

Accordingly, the landscaping works proposed fail to accord with policies EM3 

and EM4 of the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme. 

 

9. Recommendation 

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal. 

 

Author :  Kerrie Charles (Development Management) 

Date:    16 September 2019 

 

Background papers: 

Appendix 1: Appellants grounds of appeal 

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report 

 

Page 53



Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Page 54



155 Briar Road Watford Hertfordshire WD25 0HL
T: 020 8428 6868 M: 07793 068600
E: info@blythdevelopments.co.uk

07 August 2019

Your Reference: 6/2019/1502/EM

Dear Sirs

We would like to appeal against your original decision in relation to the above 
reference relating to the Estate Management Scheme and politely request that the 
Council would consider the following in response.

We submitted a Certificate of Lawfulness For The Erection of Front Porch, Internal 
Alterations and Expansion of Hard Standing Application No: 6/2019/1512/LAWP 
Date of Approval: 30 July 2019.

With so many examples (please refer to photographs) in close proximately of similar 
styles precedent has been set, therefore our application cannot be considered 
incongruous, or that they fail to maintain and enhance the amenities and values of this 
part of the Garden City. In fact can be considered an enhancement. 

Uplands is a very congested road with cars on both sides creating awkward parking 
arrangements of which my clients are most evenings unable to park directly outside 
their property or even close by which you will of course sympathise. We therefore 
sincerely request that you reconsider your initial decision.

Yours faithfully,

D. J. BLYTH.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2019/1502/EM
Location: 87 Uplands Welwyn Garden City AL8 7EH
Proposal: Erection of a front porch, internal alterations and expansion of 

hardstanding
Officer:  Mrs Kerrie Charles

Recommendation: Refused

6/2019/1502/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

No.87 Uplands is a terraced dwelling south side of Uplands.  The site frontage 
is part soft, part hard landscaped.

The proposal is to erect a front porch and extend the hardstanding.

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history
Application Number: W6/1996/5062/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 30 April 1996
Proposal: Erection of rear conservatory and garden shed

Application Number: W6/2006/1157/EM Decision: Refused Decision 
Date: 27 October 2006
Proposal: FORMATION OF VEHICLE HARDSTANDING

Application Number: W6/2006/1508/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 10 January 2007
Proposal: FORMATION OF HARDSTANDING

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Summary of 
neighbour 
responses

None received

Consultee 
responses

None received

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3 EM4
 

Considerations
Design (form, The application site is sited within a row of terrace dwellings and all of similar 

Page 57



2 of 3

size, scale, siting) 
and Character 
(impact upon 
amenities and 
values of Garden 
City)

architectural style and open canopy porches which is a familiar feature within 
the Estate Management Scheme.

The proposal is to form an enclosed porch. The proposed porch would be 
erected on the front elevation and would be prominent within the streetscene.

It is considered that the proposed porch would detract from the property and 
would not be in keeping within the set of terrace properties and would be 
detrimental to the character of the streetscene.  It would fail to maintain the 
values and amenities of this part of the street scene and would be contrary to 
Policy EM1.

Impact on 
neighbours

The proposals are not considered to impact on the neighbouring properties 
amenities.

Landscaping 
issues (incl. 
hardstandings)

Policy EM4 seeks to retain the appearance and ethos of the Garden City while
accommodating the increased pressure for vehicle hard standings which has
resulted from a rise in car ownership. In doing such, Policy EM4 suggests that
proposals should retain as much soft “green” landscaping as possible, and not
result in a detrimental loss of hedgerows which can be used to reduce the
visual prominence of parked vehicles.

The proposal would exceed the retention of 50% soft landscaping, resulting in 
100% hardstanding and an unbalanced proportion of soft and hard 
landscaping detracting from the overall character of the area. 

Furthermore, the existing hedge would be need to be removed to gain access 
onto the driveway, which has not shown on the proposed plans.  No 
justification has been provided for the hedge removal, and this would remove 
any screening to the frontage, therefore the hardstanding would be more 
prominent and would harm the amenities and character of the area.

As such, the development would cause detrimental harm to the character and
amenities of the Garden City contrary to Policies EM3 and EM4.

Any other 
considerations 

N/A

Conclusion
The proposed front porch would not be in keeping with the original planned design of porches along 
the row of the application site and its immediate context, detrimental to the amenities and values of 
the existing area.  Accordingly, the proposal is contrary to Policy EM1 of the Welwyn Garden City 
Estates Management Scheme.

The proposed hardstanding would result in an unbalanced proportion of soft and hard landscaping. 
As such, the development would cause detrimental harm to the character and amenities of the 
Garden City contrary to Policy EM4.  Additionally the removal of the existing hedge without 
justification would result in the loss of landscaping which would harm the character and amenities of 
the area contrary to Policy EM3.

Page 58



3 of 3

Reasons for Refusal: 

1. The proposed front porch would appear as an incongruous addition to the front of 
the property that would fail to respect the character and appearance of the existing 
property, row of terraces and street scene.  Accordingly, the proposal would harm 
the values and amenities of this part of the Garden City, contrary to Policy EM1 of 
the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme.

2. As a result of the amount of hardstanding proposed together with the loss of the 
hedgerows at the site, would result in an inappropriate amount of soft landscaping 
being retained at the site which would erode the character of the street scene and 
have an adverse impact on the visual amenities of this part of Uplands. Accordingly 
the proposal fails to maintain the values and amenities of the Garden City, contrary 
to Policies EM3 and EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

3.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

Location 
Plan

Location Plan 17 June 2019

BD/19/10/2 Proposed Floor Plans and 
Elevations

17 June 2019

BD/19/10/3 Proposed Section 17 June 2019

BD/19/10/1 Existing Floor Plans and 
Elevations

17 June 2019

Determined By:

Mrs Sarah Smith
1 August 2019

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 6a, 6b of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 8 PICKETTS, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1460/EM - FORMATION OF HARDSTANDING
	8 Picketts Appendix 1 - Appellants Appeal Statement Part 1
	8 Picketts Appendix 1 - Appellants Appeal Statement Part 2
	8 Picketts Appendix 2 - Officer Report

	7 12 THISTLE GROVE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1919/EM - ERECTION OF A FENCE FOLLOWING THE REMOVAL OF A HEDGE
	12 Thistle Grove Appendix 1 updated
	12 Thistle Grove Appendix 2
	12 Thistle Grove Appendix 3

	8 16 ROUNDWOOD DRIVE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2018/1230/EM - REPLACEMENT GARAGE DOOR
	16 Roundwood Drive Appendix 1 - appeal statement
	16 Roundwood Drive Appendix 2 - case officer's report

	9 87 UPLANDS, WELWYN GARDEN CITY - 6/2019/1502/EM
	87 Uplands Appendix 1 - Grounds of Appeal
	87 Uplands Appendix 2 - Delegated Report

	12 UPDATE ON OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION UNDER THE TERMS OF THE MANAGEMENT SCHEME FOR WELWYN GARDEN CITY FOR BREACHES OF THAT SCHEME

